Pages: 47

SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2013-CA-01631

DRAKE L. LEWIS, APPELLANT

VERSUS

TONIA D. LEWIS, APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM

THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

HONORABLE CARTER BISE, PRESIDING TRIAL JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THOMAS W. TEEL Perry, Murr, Teel & Koenenn Post Office Box 7158 Gulfport, MS 39507 Telephone: (228) 896-0020 Facsimile: (228) 896-0026

MSB# 8014

IN THE SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2013-CA-01631

DRAKE	ĽL.,	LE	WIS
-------	------	----	-----

APPELLANT

VS.

TONIA D. LEWIS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Appellant Drake Lewis asserts as follows:

The Court erred in carrying out the terms of the remand and erred in its determination of marital assets and valuations; therefore, the Court erred in making an equitable distribution of assets and liabilities, erred in its award of child support and erred in its award of college expenses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties have been divorced, had that matter appealed and remanded, and then tried the remand and modification actions, from which this appeal derives. Appellant would show that the remand is found at *Lewis v. Lewis*, 54 So.3d 233 (Miss. Ct.App. 2009) and *Lewis v. Lewis*, 54 So.3d 216 (Miss. 2011). Thereafter, the lower court heard the remand, post Judgment pleadings, and motions to reconsider and rendered three orders that are dealt with in this appeal: the Judgment After Remand; the Order on Modification and Contempt; and the Order. Additionally, there are multiple post divorce judgment orders concerning the Richland Roads funds.

The parties, Drake and Tonia Lewis married in 1991 and separated in June 2006 in Jackson County, Mississippi. The parties had three children, ages, at the time of the divorce, 16,10, and 8. On August 30, 2006, Appellee, Tonia D. Lewis (hereinafter "Tonia") filed her Complaint For Divorce and Motion For Temporary Relief against the Appellant, Drake L. Lewis (hereinafter "Drake"). After answers and pleadings and discovery, the trial was held on July 19 and 20, 2007.

Court's Initial Judgment

On January 11, 2008, the Chancery Court of Harrison County, First Judicial District, entered its Judgment Incorporating Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, from which Drake filed his first appeal.

First Appeal

Your Appellant Drake Lewis filed his first appeal asserting that the equitable division was in error. The Court of Appeals rendered its opinion on December 8, 2009 wherein this matter was remanded in part as follows:

On remand, the chancellor must revalue Legacy using all relevant data, rather than relying on Tonia's admittedly inaccurate exhibits. The chancellor must also consider whether the Swamp Road acreage is marital property in light of Tonia's statements regarding the property, and whether the St. Martin property is marital property in light of the 1031 exchange. After considering all of these things, the chancellor must address the proper value of the marital estate and then make an equitable distribution of the marital estate, taking into account the new value of Legacy and any other property which has undergone a change in marital status. In so doing, the chancellor must not consider Lot 13 of Hickory Hills, which both parties agreed is no longer owned by either party. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 35)

In addition, the Court declined to accept that income can only be considered if it is achieved from non-diminishing assets; however, in the footnote, the Court stated:

We accept that the chancellor's treatment of the loan will most likely mean that the amount of child support will have to be adjusted in the future, once Drake has recouped the value of the loan. *Lewis v. Lewis*, 54 So. 2d 233 (FN2, Miss. Ct. App. 2009)

Post First Appeal Motions

On February 9, 2010, Tonia filed her Counter Motion For Citation Of Contempt and For Modification and Other Relief alleging Drake had failed to pay child support, provide insurance for

the minor children and to provide for the college education of the parties oldest child. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 36-41). On March 28, 2010, Tonia filed her Answer to Amended Complaint For Modification as to Support and Custody. (C.P. Vol 1, Pages 56-61)

On March 17, 2010 Drake filed his Motion to Compel and For Sanctions due to Tonia's failure to respond to Interrogatories and Requests for Production which had been served on her on October 22, 2008. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 43-55). Further, on April 16, 2010, Drake filed his Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Counter Motion for Citation and for Modification and Other Relief. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 62-65). Additionally, on April 16, 2010, Drake filed a Motion for Protective Order alleging that he should not be compelled to answer any discovery and should be granted a protective order. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 66-67)

Drake after several attempts, had the matter set for hearing on October 4, 5, and 6, 2010 but, after meeting with the parties' counsel, the Court declined to hear the matter and wanted to wait for the appeal. (See T. Pages 169-273; see also C.P. Volume 3 Pages 410,412).

On Writ of Certiorari

On February 3, 2011, the Supreme Court of Mississippi remanded this matter as follows:

Upon remand, the chancellor shall cause the marital assets to be reevaluated consistent with the instructions of this opinion and those of the Court of Appeals, with the exception of considering goodwill equity. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 88)

Post Writ of Certiorari Motions

Thereafter, the parties again filed matters in Chancery. A Motion for Scheduling Order and Trial Setting was filed on behalf of Tonia on August 30, 2011. (C.P.Volume 1, Pages 96-97). On June 6, 2012, Drake file a Motion In Limine re: Shenandoah & Suma Hills wherein he sought to

have the Court limit proceedings and grant relief from judgment by ordering Tonia to repay \$130,497.50 received by Tonia from the sale of Shenandoah and \$12,000.00 in damages for contempt of the Court orders and an order clearing title regarding Suma Hills. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 98), on July 9, 2012, Drake filed his Memorandum in Support of Motion In Limine re: Shenandoah and Suma Hills. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 144 to 150 and Volume 2, Pages 151 to 244)

Additionally, Drake filed a Motion Under Rule 60 on June 18, 2012 against Tonia wherein Drake sought relief from the Court to reconsider the entire asset valuation and equitable distribution and correct its other errors under Rule 60. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 99-143)

Judgment After Remand

On February 15, 2013, the Court entered it's Judgment After Remand wherein the Court ruled as follows:

Ordered and Adjudged that if there is any value to Legacy Holdings, Inc. that the same should be distributed to Plaintiff Drake Lewis as his own, that any liabilities are to be distributed to the Plaintiff, and that he hold harmless and indemnify Defendant Tonia Pagel of any and all tax liability for which she might be "saddled" based upon Plaintiff's post-divorce 2007 Legacy return. (C.P. Volume 2, Page 253)

Ordered and Adjudged that the Swamp Road property was gifted to the Plaintiff Drake Lewis outside the marital estate, and therefore, it is non-marital property belonging to Drake Lewis. (C.P. Volume 2, Page 253-254)

Ordered and Adjudged that the Hickory Hills property was a gift from Drake Lewis' father to Drake Lewis, and thus the St. Martin property which was obtained through the 1031 exchange is separate property belonging to Drake Lewis. (C.P. Volume 2, Page 254)

Ordered and Adjudged that Drake Lewis shall pay Tonia Lewis Pagel \$100,000.00 lump sum alimony, payable at \$2,500.00 per

month, beginning March 1, 2013. (C.P. Volume 2, Page 254)

Ordered and Adjudged that the issues of contempt and modification are reserved for further Order. (C.P. Volume 2, Page 254)

Ordered and Adjudged that the Court incorporates fully its Judgment Incorporating Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, dated January 11, 2008, and Order Altering and Amending Judgment, dated March 31, 2008, as if reproduced herein, and adopts all findings of facts and discussions of relevant factors as contained therein, with the exception of the findings stated *supra*. (C.P. Volume 2, Page 254)

Motions Post Judgment After Remand

On February 22, 2013, Drake filed his Motion to Reconsider Under MRCP 59 and 60. (C.P. Volume 2, Pages 255-300 and Volume 3, Pages 301-304)

Order on Modification and Contempt

By Order dated March 7, 2013, the Court ordered Plaintiff's rehabilitative alimony to terminate as of the date of Tonia's remarriage, ordered each party to be responsible for one-half of the minor children's college education and related expenses, awarded Drake a total of three weeks summer visitation, held Drake responsible for any liabilities of Legacy Holdings, Inc., found Drake in contempt of court for failing to pay child support and entered a judgment in the amount of \$28,589.39, ordered the parties to split any orthodontic expenses not covered by insurance and awarded Tonia \$5,000 in attorney fees. All other requests were denied. (C.P. Volume 3, Pages 305-313)

Motion to Reconsider the Order on Modification and Contempt of March 7, 2013 under MRCP 59 and 60

On March 14, 2013, Drake filed his Motion to Reconsider seeking relief from the Order on Modification of Contempt. (C.P. Volume 3, Pages 314-407)

Order

The Court entered its Order on September 17, 2013 on the Plaintiff's Motion To Reconsider Under MRCP 59 and 60. In this Order, the Court retroactively modified the Plaintiff's child support based upon the oldest reaching the age of majority; however, denied all other relief requested in the Motion. (C.P. Volume 3, Page 408-418)

Notice of Appeal and Corrected Notice of Appeal

On September 26 and September 27, Drake filed his Notice of Appeal alleging that the Court erred in its distribution of assets, award of child support, and award of college expenses by denying the Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider under MRCP 59 and 60. (C.P. Volume 3, Pages 419-424.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Facts Related to Asset Issues

This is the second appeal on this case. The first appeal ruling was by the Court of Appeals, in *Lewis v. Lewis*, 54 So. 2d 233 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009), which ruled in Drake's favor regarding issues related to the Court's property rulings and equitable distribution. That matter was taken on certiorari and affirmed in most respects by the Supreme Court in *Lewis v. Lewis*, 54 So.3d 216 (Miss. 2011). The current appeal revolves around the remand decision and the post divorce actions filed and eventually tried in 2012.

The current case still centers on valuation and distribution. Drake argued at the initial 2007 divorce hearing that Legacy Holdings, Inc., had no value. The Chancery Court used documents provided by Tonia and made its equitable distribution wherein Tonia received \$855,747.00 and Drake received \$1,807,822.00 as per the Court's calculation:

A. To Tonia Lewis Pagel

Asset	Value	Debt	Equity
Home: 9021 Marina Avenue	\$250,000	\$146,000	\$104,000
Ocean Springs, Mississippi			
Proceeds from sale of Lots 15, 16	\$93,000.00	n/a	\$93,000
Grasslands			
Proceeds from sale of	\$265,624	n/a	\$132,812
Richland Road, Columbia, MO			
St. Martin 10 acres	\$200,000	n/a	\$200,000
4912 Kennesaw Dr.	\$250,000	\$82,000	\$168,000
Shenandoah Baton Rouge, LA			
2003 Yukon	\$20,000	\$17,586	\$2,414
AIM 5256	\$2,304	n/a	\$2,304
AIM 1916	\$3,141	n/a	\$3,141
IRA (Drake)	\$5,300	n/a	\$5,300
IRA (Tonia)	\$2,950	n/a	\$2,950
Tax Refund	\$9,000	n/a	\$9,000
Lot 29 Hickory Hills	\$10,000	n/a	\$10,000
Jackson County, MS			

TOTAL NET VALUE TO TONIA: \$855,747.00

To Drake Lewis, along with any debt associated with a particular asset:

Asset	Value	Debt	Equity
Suma Hills, Lot 7	\$190,000	\$142,000	\$48,000
Livingston, LA		•	
Lot 13, Hickory Hills	\$10,512	n/a	\$10,512
Lots 1-4 Pinehurst Spec Homes	\$680,000	\$421,000	\$259,000
Swamp Road	\$30,000	n/a	\$30,000
Tiger Bend Apartments	\$130,000	33,505	\$96,545
Baton Rouge, LA			
2000 Corvette	\$27,000	n/a	\$27,000
2004 SK1	\$27,000	n/a	\$27,000

Loan to Legacy Holdings, LLC	\$156,555	n/a	\$156,555
Bayliner	\$5,000	n/a	\$5,000
Legacy Holdings, LLC	\$1,148, 270		\$1,148,270

TOTAL NET VALUE TO DRAKE: \$1,807,882.00

The first appeal ruling was by the Court of Appeals, in *Lewis v. Lewis*, 54 So. 2d 233 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009), which stated that the Court must "revalue Legacy", reconsider whether Swamp Road and St. Martin properties were marital, then the court, on remand, was to "address the proper value of the marital estate and then make an equitable distribution of the martial estate, taking into account the new value of Legacy and any other property which has undergone a change in marital status." (R.E. Page 29 ¶38.). As noted above, that matter was taken on certiorari and affirmed in most respects by the Supreme Court in *Lewis v. Lewis*, 54 So.3d 216 (Miss. 2011).

In the remand, Drake sought to prove that Legacy Holdings, Inc. (sometime mistakenly referred to as an LLC) had no value, owned no real property, and owned no large personal property in the company name. Further, he sought to prove that Tonia's valuation in 2007 was knowingly false as her valuation documentation clearly contained assets that Legacy did not own. (referring to the 2007 divorce exhibits 1,4,and 7, R.E. Pages 899, 933 and 934).

Testimony in the 2012 remand verified that argument.

First, Tonia presented no new documents or evidence other than what she had in 2007. In fact, Tonia in 2012, agreed that the divorce exhibits had showed that Legacy owned real property, vehicles, and large account receivables; however, she then admitted having no deeds, title or documents showing that Legacy owned any real property or vehicles. Further, Tonia could not produce any documents to show value, no deeds or titles on anything supposedly owned by Legacy, nor did she have any experts. (T. Pages 21-22, 25-27, and 160-162).

Second, Tonia had no documents to challenge Drake's 2007 listing of assets and values of Legacy. She was shown Exhibit 2 from the divorce trial (R.E. Page 910), and admitted that the eight properties were not owned by Legacy, nor was the Corvette or Yukon. (T. Pages 31-2). When shown Exhibit 4 from the divorce trial, Tonia admitted that the "1999 Dodge Caravan to Lewis Trust, Martin Bluff, Shenandoah, Grasslands, Swamp Road, Tiger Bend "are personal assets not part of Legacy. (T. Pages 33-34). Tonia was shown Exhibit 7 from the divorce trial (R.E. Page 934) and admitted that the Legacy balance sheet she used at court contained items that were not Legacy assets, such as: the Marina house was their marital home, was titled in their name as was the debt (T. Pages 34 and 138), Elderbrook was a former personal home (T. Page 35), the 5037 Deborah property had been sold in 2004 but still listed as a current asset (T. Page 36); she had no titles to any vehicles in the name of Legacy (T. Page 135); Suma Hills was in Drake's name and not Legacy (T. Page 140); Lot 13 Hickory Hills did not exist then (T. Pages 140-141); Pinehurst was not in Legacy name (T. Page 142). Also, Tonia had previously, and still, claimed ownership of Swamp Road property (T. Page 145), but admitted that she had no documents that evidenced that any family trust property was turned over to Drake individually (T. Pages 147-148). As a general matter, Tonia admitted that the Legacy spreadsheet she used for values in the divorce matter had all assets listed including things she owned, that Drake owner, that Legacy owned, and that the Trust owned. Tonia admitted that there is only Legacy Holdings, Inc., and there is no Legacy Holdings, LLC (T. Page 156-7); further, she admitted that using the spreadsheets from the divorce trial, if the properties noted as Legacy assets were taken out, it would change Legacy's value (T. Page 157). All these things she knew in 2007.

Third, Tonia had no documents to challenge Drake's rendition of value (T. Page 28), nor an expert or CPA (T. Pages 26-27) Tonia had no evidence in 2007 or now to contradict the tax filings of 2007 and 2008, the Pinehurst property construction had no profit. (T. Page 157) There was no property or vehicles, Tonia knew that there was only office equipment of minimal value (T. Page 159).

Fourth, Tonia offered no deeds or documents as evidence to dispute Drake's other property assertions. Tonia also generally admitted that she had no documents or deeds to dispute the 1031 exchange on the trust property, but still claimed it should be partially hers (T. Page 154); whereas, Drake as well as his father Jordan Lewis testified on the 1031 exchange (T. Pages 326-327) and produced the deeds and 1031 exchange documents to verify that transaction and Tonia's very limited participation. (T. Page 152) Similarly, Tonia sought the entire proceeds of the Richland Road sale, but Tonia also admitted that Exhibit 6 (2012 trial R.E. Page 810) is an agreement to sell the Richland Road property and that she agreed that one half would be her separate property (T. Page 155); moreover, Drake as well as his father Garry Lewis testified and provided documents to verify that transaction and its particular wording. (T. Page 332-333).

Fifth, Drake produced all the documents noted above, his various personal and business tax returns, and had the CPA Doris Triplett testify about the Court's valuation of Legacy at \$1,148, 270 and the erroneous information supplied by Tonia. Of course, Tonia recognized that the tax documents for Legacy established that the company had a negative value (June 18, 2012 hearing, T. Page 17). Tonia also admits that the Quicken and Quickbooks programs she used had faulty information (see above).

As facts, Drake established that the company had no real value. Primarily, Drake established that the Legacy value included the home, properties valued quite high (i.e., Richland Roads at \$936,000 and it was not in Legacy name) through his testimony (T. Page 238) and through Tonia's (T. Pages 33-35 and 128-145). Additionally, Drake produced at the divorce trial his 8.05 (Exhibits 2 and 2A, R.E. Pages 910 and 920) and correctly explained those at court, again, in 2012 (T. Page 232), stating:

- Q. Okay. Now, as to the Legacy sheet, explain how
- 2 you arrived at the value of Legacy on your Exhibit 2 A
- 3 from the prior hearing.
- 4 A. I went and listed all of the cash that was on
- 5 hand and the accounts receivable that the books showed
- 6 and then the trailers and miscellaneous tools, the
- 7 assets that Legacy actually had and then the liabilities
- 8 that Legacy had and came up with the net worth that's
- 9 shown there.
- 10 O. What is that net worth?
- 11 A. A negative \$7,195.08. That's dated July of
- 12 '07, 18th.

Further, Tonia, upon reviewing Exhibit 2 (from divorce trial R.E. Page 910) was aware that Drake's evaluation on his exhibit showed a negative value for the company as Drake's 8.05 had divided the assets into personal assets and company assets. (T. Pages 31-32). Finally, Doris Triplett, the CPA, noted that Legacy had tax or book assets (those things listed on the accounting programs) but actually had no real property in Legacy name and very little personal property. Further, Doris noted that the Tonia valuation number for Legacy of \$1,148,000 was not in any of the Quickbook ledgers she reviewed (T. Page 26) and, affirmatively, that Legacy never made money and had a negative value for tax purposes. (T. Pages 27-29). Doris also noted that Drake made two loans to the company, one for \$132,000 and the other for \$156,555 to the company, which would not get repaid.

(T 31,100-101). Prior to the original divorce ruling, Drake deposited his entire half of the Richland Road Proceeds into Legacy to complete the Pinehurst homes. Doris also testified that Legacy had a January 1, 2008 value based upon cash and accounts payable and receivable of about \$32,000; however, this number is after Drake had deposited his half of the Richland Road proceeds of \$132,000 into Legacy to complete Pinehurst homes. (T. Page 37)

The Court issued its ruling over two orders, February 2013 and September 2013.

In the February 2013 ruling, the Court noted that Drake had not sent a finding of fact; however, Drake filed his Post Trial Brief with the Court (C.P. Volume 2, Page 261). The Court noted that it had no "firm basis on which to form an opinion" as to Legacy's value, noting that Drake "still failed to provide any information" for a Legacy valuation. However, the Court notes that Legacy owned no titled "real or personal properties.

The Chancery Court did find that Swamp Road was a gift to Drake (held in the trust) and non-marital; further, the Court found that the Lot 13 Hickory Hills should not have been included in the equitable distribution and that the St. Martin property was also a gift and non marital. Further, the court noted (C.P. Volume 1, Page 252):

In light of the new determinations this Court has made after the remand and the new evidence presented as a result, the Court will now re-evaluate the distribution of the marital estate.

In response to the remand, the Court addressed Legacy in the September 2013 Order, stating only this

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED, that Drake Lewis is re responsible for any liabilities of Legacy Holdings, Inc., and he shall hold harmless and indemnify Defendant Tonia Pagel of any and all tax

liability for which she might be "saddled" as a result of the postdivorce returns filed by Plaintiff Drake Lewis.

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