Pages: 45

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2013-TS-01631

DRAKE L. LEWIS

APPELLANT

VS.

TONIA D. LEWIS PAGEL

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT, CAUSE NO. C2402-06-747(4) HONORABLE CARTER BISE, PRESIDING TRIAL JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE:

DEAN HOLLEMAN, MSB #2523 BOYCE HOLLEMAN & ASSOCIATES 1720—23rd Avenue-Boyce Holleman Blvd. Gulfport, MS 39501 (228) 863-3142 Telefax (228) 863-9829

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

At page 25 of the Appellant's Brief, Drake again erroneously states: "The Chancery Court failed to make a detailed *Ferguson* analysis" when in fact the chancellor below most definitely did reincorporate, readopt and refer back to his 2008 analysis and findings as heretofore set forth. The chancellor further recognized the change in the distribution to Tonia due to the change in the status of certain assets on remand from marital to Drake's separate assets and in view of the resulting disparity in the separate estates of Drake and Tonia the chancellor awarded Tonia lump sum alimony of \$100,000.00. CP.252-53.

Drake follows with another listing of "reasons" why the chancellor erred in his equitable distribution on remand (Appellant's Brief Pp. 25-26):

- a) Drake complains that the chancellor in essence awarded Tonia a greater share of the assets than Drake.
- b) Drake makes reference to the chancellor failing to note "Tonia did not have the debt on the Kennesaw property of \$82,000.00" which does not concern any issue on remand pertaining to that asset. This is a marital asset affirmed by the Court of

- Appeals which Tonia was awarded initially and which remained in her assets on remand. There is no further expansion by Drake on this reference.
- c) [# sic]Drake erroneously makes reference to the chancellor failing to address the "Ferguson factors in regard to the assets and the tax consequences". Appellant's Brief, p.25. The chancellor set forth his findings and analysis on all of the Ferguson factors and specifically found there was no evidence of any tax consequences created by the chancellor's equitable division. CP. 138. There is no further expansion by Drake on this comment.
- d) Drake makes reference to the chancellor's failure "to review *Helmsley* as regards the separate property from the Richland sale and the failure to sequester this property". Tonia is not sure what Drake intends by this statement. Again, the Richland sale proceeds were determined to be a marital asset in 1998 and affirmed on appeal. There was not a remand issue on the Richland sale proceeds. The asset was awarded to Tonia in the equitable distribution on remand. Appellant's Brief, p.25, 26-29.
- e) In Drake's second to last of his listings of reasons the chancellor should be reversed he provides: "Because of these factual and legal errors, the Chancery Court's equitable distribution does not comply with this court's *Ferguson* guidelines." There is no further expansion by Drake on this comment.
- f) Lastly, Drake asserts the chancellor erred "in awarding lump sum alimony after that faulty *Helmsley-Ferguson* analysis in contravention to the rules set forth in *Cheatham v. Cheatham*, 537 So. 2d 435, 438-40 (Miss. 1988). Tonia is not sure

what Drake intends by this statement. There is no further expansion by Drake on this comment.

Drake proceeds on page 26 of the Appellant's Brief under a heading "Richland Road, Separate Property and *Ferguson*". Once again, the Richland sale proceeds were determined to be a marital asset by the chancellor in 2008 and this classification was affirmed on appeal. There was not a remand issue on the classification of the Richland Road sale proceeds. The asset was awarded to Tonia in the chancellor's equitable distribution on remand.

Drake's next section of error is titled "Remand and Ferguson Analysis". Drake argues "there is no reason that Tonia needed more assets than Drake". Drake cites Wells v. Wells, 800 So. 2d 1239 (Miss.Ct.Appeals 2001), however, in that case the husband complained about receiving less of the assets than the wife just as Drake does. The Wells equitable distribution was affirmed. The Wells court reminded us that this Court does not conduct a Ferguson analysis anew. Where the chancellor sets forth his findings and his analysis in making his equitable distribution he will be affirmed. Id. Drake cites Bresnahan v. Bresnahan, 818 So.2d 1113 (Miss. 2002), however, the chancellor's division of the assets on a 55/45 basis in favor of the husband was affirmed. That case also reminds us that "[u]nder the system of equitable distribution the courts in Mississippi are not so inhibited [as courts in community property states]. The matter rather is committed to the discretion and conscious of the Court, having in mind all of the equities and other relevant facts and circumstances". Id. at p. 1119

Drake's last portion of his "Argument 1" is titled "Ferguson and Lump Sum Alimony". Here Drake complains in awarding lump sum alimony to Tonia of \$100,000.00, the chancellor failed to account for the factors in Cheatham v. Cheatham, 537 So.2d 435 (Miss. 1988). [See Tonia's legal argument set forth herein below].

2. Tonia's Legal Argument-Equitable Distribution-Affirm

The chancellor below set forth the most extensive findings and analysis of all factors necessary for him to equitably divide the marital estate of Drake and Tonia and the record is replete with substantial credible evidence to justify his findings. "In domestic relations cases the scope of review is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule." *Jundoosing v. Jundoosing*, 826 So. 2d 85, 88 (Miss. 2002). "This Court may reverse a chancellor's findings of fact only when there is no 'substantial credible evidence in the record' to justify his finding." *Henderson v. Henderson*, 757 So. 2d 285, 289 (Miss. 2000). "[This Court's] review in domestic relations is limited under the familiar rule that this Court will not disturb a chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard." *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So. 2d 1281, 1285 (Miss. 1994); *Morris v. Morris* 5 So. 3rd 476 (Miss. Ct. Appeals 2008).

As in Drake's first appeal, the ultimate question raised again in Drake's "Argument 1" is whether the chancellor erred in equitably dividing the marital estate. Drake argues that the chancellor erred in awarding Tonia a greater share of the marital estate. His implication is that the only way the estate can be equitably divided is for it to be divided equally. Drake cites no authority that requires the chancellor to equally divide the marital assets.

In Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d 921, 927 (Miss. 1994), the Mississippi Supreme Court introduced the concept of equitable division of marital property and specifically held that equitable division does not mean equal division. See also Love v. Love, 687 So. 2d 1229, 1232 (Miss. 1997); Trovato v. Trovato, 649 So. 2d 815, 818 (Miss. 1995); Pierce v. Pierce, 648 So. 2d 523, 526 (Miss. 1994); King v. King 862 So.2d 1287, 1289 (Miss. Ct. Appeals 2004). The

chancellor below is granted wide discretion in dividing Drake and Tonia's marital estate. *Jones* v. *Jones* 995 So.2d 706 (Miss. 2008); *Bullock* v. *Bullock*, 699 So.2d 1205, 1211 (Miss. 1997).

This Court's decision in *Ferguson* sets forth the proper framework for the chancellor's property designation and distribution. The chancellor below followed the *Ferguson* framework when he (1) classified Drake and Tonia's assets as marital or separate; (2) determined the value of those assets; (3) divided the marital estate equitably based upon the factors set forth in *Ferguson* and his discretion; and (4) finally the chancellor considered the appropriateness of lump sum alimony for Tonia who was left with a deficiency i.e. no separate estate as compared to Drake's separate estate. *Larue v. Larue*, 969 So. 2d 99, 104 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Ferguson*, 639 So. 2d at 928-29).

Much like Drake, the husband in *Wells v. Wells* 800 So.2d 1239 (Miss. Ct. Appeals 2001) complained the chancellor did not equitably divide the marital assets and that his wife received too much. In *Wells* the chancellor was affirmed. This case stands for the proposition that this Court's review of the chancellor's judgment is <u>not</u> to conduct a *Ferguso*n analysis anew, but to review the judgment to ensure that the chancellor followed the appropriate standards and did not abuse his discretion. As did the chancellor in *Wells*, the chancellor below equitably divided Drake and Tonia's marital estate only after first setting forth his findings under *Ferguson* in his January 2008 judgment. Thereafter these findings were readopted in the chancellor's 2012 Judgment After Remand. The chancellor's findings under the *Ferguson* factors clearly set for the contributions of both parties to the marital estate and clearly showed Tonia had made very significant contributions.

On remand the chancellor reassessed the only affected *Ferguson* factor after declaring two additional properties as Drake's separate assets, i.e. he considered Drake's assets 'acquired

outside the marriage' and then revised his equitable distribution of the marital assets. See *Ferguson*, infra. As was the chancellor's analysis in *Wells*, the analysis of the chancellor was an act of his discretion based upon his factual findings and there was no error in his division of the marital property in question.

Recognizing the delineation of the *Ferguson* factors and the findings by the chancellor below, this Court is to presume that based upon the chancellor's findings and the stated factors that he has taken all of the factors into consideration. *Voda v. Voda* 731 So.2d 1152 (Miss. 1999); *Tanner v. Tanner*, 481 So. 2d 1063, 1064 (Miss. 1985) (quoting *Pickering v. Pickering*, 51 So. 2d 740, 741 (Miss. 1951) and citing *Gardiner v. Gardiner*, 230 Miss. 778, 93 So. 2d 638, 641, 90 So. 2d 668 (1957)). The record below clearly contains a full analysis of the *Ferguson* factors and this Court must accept that which supports or reasonably tends to support this analysis and the supporting findings of fact made by the chancellor. This Court must further give all reasonable inferences which may be drawn from the chancellor's findings and which favor the upholding of those findings. *Singley v. Singley* 846 So.2d 1004 (Miss. 2002); *Ezell v. Williams*, 724 So. 2d 396, 397 (Miss. 1998). Even if Drake were to point out particular evidence which may be contradictory to the chancellor's findings such does not warrant interference by this Court and this Court must generally affirm. *Boatner v. State*, 754 So. 2d 1184, 1191-92 (Miss. 2000).

Drake erroneously asserts the chancellor failed to make the sufficient findings under the *Ferguson* factors. As stated herein above the chancellor covered each and every *Ferguson* factor applicable to the equitable division of Drake and Tonia's marital estate. See [Jan 08 and 12]. When the chancellor was called upon on remand to revisit the marital/non marital status of Swamp Road and St. Martin properties the chancellor revisited the affected *Ferguson* factor and

made his revised equitable distribution of the marital estate. Even if this Court were to determine the chancellor did not address a particular *Ferguson* factor, this Court has held not every case requires consideration of all eight of the factors. *Morris v. Morris* 5 So.3d 476, 491 (Miss. Ct. Appeals 2008)[wife awarded greater portion of assets; affirmed). Rather, the chancellor at his discretion "may consider only those factors he finds 'applicable' to the property in question." *Id*.

On remand, the chancellor below reclassified the Swamp Road and St. Martin properties and declared these assets as Drake's separate estate which added to those assets he was already awarded in the first trial as his separate assets. Having made these changes, the chancellor recognized that the distribution to Drake and Tonia had been affected and Tonia's value had decreased. Having before him all of the chancellor's prior findings from 2008 and along with his new findings in 2012 the chancellor had the discretion to re-evaluate the equities between the parties, consider each party's contributions to the marital estate, and to consider each party's separate estate (Tonia had none, Drake had aplenty) as provided in *Ferguson*. As in *Welch v. Welch*, 755 So. 2d 6 (Miss. Ct. Appeals 1999) the chancellor awarded Tonia more of the marital assets. In *Welch* the chancellor's recognition of the wife's sizable separate estate as compared to the husband's, awarded the husband 2/3rds of the marital assets and was affirmed. While reviewing each of these factors, we must also consider that an *equal* division of the marital estate is not mandated but rather an *equitable* division. *Chamblee v. Chamblee*, 637 So. 2d 850, 863-64 (Miss. 1994).

Once again, a chancellor's greater award to a wife who had no separate estate as compared to that of the husband was affirmed in *Dickerson v. Dickerson*, 34 So.2d 6 (Miss. Ct. Appeals 1999). There the chancellor found there to be a substantial disparity between the

husband and the wife's estates given that the wife had no separate estate. *Id.* The Miss. Ct. of Appeals also emphasized that the chancellor in *Dickerson* considered the husband's marital fault, just as the chancellor below noted Drake's adulterous affair and the chancellor noted the wife's significant contributions to the marital estate, just as the chancellor below noted Tonia's contributions. *Id.*

Drake erroneously asserts the chancellor erred in awarding Tonia lump sum alimony in his equitable distribution of the marital assets on remand. It is well settled under Mississippi law that the decision of whether to award alimony and the amount of the award is a matter left to the chancellor's discretion. *Lofton v. Lofton*, 924 So. 2d 596, 599 (P12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Voda v. Voda*, 731 So. 2d 1152, 1154 (P7) (Miss. 1999)). Lump-sum alimony is used as a tool to prevent unfair property division as determined in the chancellor's discretion. *See Ferguson*, 639 So. 2d at 926.

Drake complains that not only was lump sum alimony improperly granted but the chancellor also failed to apply the *Cheatham* factors to determine whether lump-sum alimony was appropriate. See, e.g., *Davis v. Davis*, 832 So. 2d 492, 499 (P26) (Miss. 2002); *White v. White*, 868 So. 2d 1054, 1058 (P9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Here, the *Cheatham* factors would include consideration of: 1) Substantial contribution by Tonia to the accumulation of the total wealth of Drake either by quitting a job to become a [homemaker], or by assisting in the family businesses. 2) Drake and Tonia's 15 year-long marriage. 3) That Tonia had no separate income or the separate estate is meager by comparison to that of Drake. 4) Without the lump sum award Tonia would lack financial security. While the chancellor below may not have specifically cited *Cheatham* in his findings and analysis, the chancellor covered each and every one of these

factors under *Ferguson* and *Armstrong* and such is sufficient. *Bland v. Bland*, 629 So.2d 582, 588-89 (Miss. 199

Drake cites *Miller v. Miller*, 874 So.2d 469 (Miss.Ct.Appeals 2004) for the proposition that lump sum alimony is not an 'equalizer' for equitable distribution and that the use of lump sum alimony in equitable distribution to equalize the distribution is improper. Drake is wrong. In a more recent case issued by the Mississippi Supreme Court in the case of *Haney v. Haney* 907 So.2d 948 (Miss. 2005)⁷ it was held that "this Court has allowed lump sum alimony as an adjustment to property division to prevent unfair division" citing *Reeves v. Reeves* 410 So.2d 1300 (Miss. 1982). Justice Dickinson went further to write that although since *Ferguson* lump sum alimony has greatly diminished, it has not disappeared. *Id. at 953*. Justice Dickinson further reasoned that the *Cheatham* factors are "really nothing more than an earlier version of the *Ferguson* factors and both are used for the same purpose". In other words, when a chancellor addresses all of the *Ferguson* factors he has included each of the *Cheatham* factors in his analysis. *Id. at 954*. In making his *Ferguson* findings and analysis the chancellor below did exactly that: he covered each and every *Cheatham* factor.

In *Bland, infra*, the chancellor failed to specifically cite *Cheatham*, however, it appeared "at least in part" that he relied upon the factors in making the award of lump sum alimony. The chancellor in *Bland* found the wife had abandoned a good job with a future of owning an interest in the business, just as Tonia lost her "good job" in the business of Legacy Holding, Inc. As was the wife in *Bland*, Tonia was a hardworking and devoted wife doing the work of a "gofer" as she described herself. Such findings support the chancellor's equitable distribution to Tonia, including the award of lump sum alimony.

⁷ Haney was a 17 month marriage and the award of ½ of the growth on his retirement account was reversed.

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